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 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1U.S. Supreme Court holds that receipts from illegal lottery consisting of payment of salaries and commissions were not profits and thus not proceeds of a specified unlawful activity under the federal money laundering laws. (560)  From the 1970's until 1994, Santos operated a lottery in Indiana that was illegal under state law. At bars and restaurants, Santos's runners gathered bets from gamblers, kept a portion of the bets (between 15% and 25%) as their commissions, and delivered the rest to Santos's collectors. Collectors, including Diaz, then delivered the money to Santos, who used some of it to pay the salaries of collectors and to pay the winners. These payments to runners, collectors, and winners formed the basis of a 10-count indictment in the Northern District of Indiana. A jury found Santos guilty of running an illegal gambling business and money laundering (§1956(a)(1)(A)(I)). Diaz pleaded guilty to conspiracy to launder money. They later filed motions under 28 U.S.C. §2255, collaterally attacking their convictions and sentences. The District Court rejected all of their claims but a challenge to their money-laundering convictions based on a subsequent Seventh Circuit decision which held that the federal money-laundering statute's prohibition of transactions involving criminal “proceeds” applies only to transactions involving criminal profits, not criminal receipts. Applying that holding, the District Court found no evidence that the transactions on which the money-laundering convictions were based (Santos's payments to runners, winners, and collectors and Diaz's receipt of payment for his collection services) involved profits, as opposed to receipts, of the illegal lottery, and vacated the money-laundering convictions. The Court of Appeals affirmed, and the U.S. Supreme Court also affirmed. The Court first held that the applicable federal money-laundering statute prohibits a number of activities involving criminal “proceeds,” in which the government must prove that a charged transaction involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity (the proceeds element), and that a defendant knew that the property involved in the charged transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity (the knowledge element), but does not define “proceeds,” which can mean either “receipts” or “profits. From the face of the statute, there is no more reason to think that “proceeds” means “receipts” than there is to think that “proceeds” means “profits,” and thus under a long line of decisions, the tie must go to the defendant. The rule of lenity requires ambiguous criminal laws to be interpreted in favor of the defendants subjected to them. Because the “profits” definition of “proceeds” is always more defendant-friendly than the “receipts” definition, the Court held that the rule of lenity dictates that it should be adopted. Thus, the Court concluded that the money-laundering charges brought against Santos were based on his payments to the lottery winners and his employees, and the money-laundering charge brought against Diaz was based on his receipt of payments as an employee, and neither type of transaction can fairly be characterized as involving the lottery's profits. U.S. v. Santos, 128 S. Ct. 2020 (2008) (June 2, 2008).

First Circuit finds that owners had actual knowledge of illegal drug use of their residence, and forfeiture of $33,000 equity did not violate Eighth Amendment. (560, 700) Defendant and his parents pled guilty to conspiracy to possess cocaine and cocaine base with the intent to distribute and certain of their property was ordered forfeited. The guilty plea agreements left the matter of forfeiture to be determined by the district judge. On appeal, the defendant claimed the evidence did not establish a sufficient connection between defendant’s parents’ residence and the offense. His mother argued that she and her husband were ignorant of any use of the residence in connection with drug dealing. A DEA agent had testified that the residence was used to store and package drugs and that drug-related telephone calls were made to the property, including a call to the property by the mother herself. (The parents argued that the agent did not have personal knowledge of packaging on the premises but relied only upon inferences from telephone calls). The parents further claimed they worked long hours every day at a family business and had no personal knowledge that the conspiracy used their home for drug activities, and that the house was commonly left open during the day so family members could visit the elderly grandmother who lived at the house. The district judge made no specific finding as to the parents' knowledge of the use of their property or whether the use of it for drug activity was foreseeable. The court of appeals noted that nothing in its case law said that personal knowledge of the property's use is required where the defendant is guilty of the offense; some decisions suggest that, at most, the use of the property must be foreseeable. The government argued tersely that the statute by its terms requires only that the defendant must be guilty of drug dealing and that the property be used to facilitate the offense. The court held that even an intermediate standard such as foreseeability would be unlikely to produce an outcome in the parents’ favor because there was evidence of their actual knowledge. Both parents also argued that the forfeiture was an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment, but the parents' equity in the house was about $33,000, the parents both pled to drug dealing in amounts that could easily have produced a much larger fine; and the house was used to facilitate drug dealing, regarded by Congress as a very serious crime with a comparably expansive forfeiture statute. The parents argued that the wholesale value of the drugs to which they directly admitted was less than their equity in the house; however, the court held that no cited authority treats that as the ceiling for a lawful fine, nor could the parents plausibly have believed that the conspiracy was limited to what they personally admitted. As for the claim of hardship, the court said that the Attorney General may choose to remit forfeiture on that ground but that is up to him. U.S. v. Ortiz-Cintron, 2006 WL 2457983 (1st Cir. 2006) (Aug 25, 2006).

1st Circuit upholds adverse spousal testimony privilege in criminal forfeiture case. (560) Defendant pleaded guilty to money laundering, extortion, racketeer​ing, and other offenses, and agreed to forfeit $916,000 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§982 and 1963. However, defendant denied having more than $5,000 in assets. The govern​ment sought discovery regarding defendant’s assets from his wife, who claimed the adverse spousal testimony privilege and declined to provide requested documents or to answer questions about her husband’s assets or any asset transfers to her. The First Circuit held that the adverse spousal testimony privilege does apply in criminal forfeiture proceedings. It is personal to the testifying spouse, and exists when the testifying spouse reasonably fears that his or her testimony might place the non-testifying spouse in criminal jeopardy. The court held that such a reasonable fear existed here because the wife’s truthful answers to the government’s questions might subject the non-testifying defendant to criminal liability for tax evasion. The govern​ment could nonetheless compel defendant’s wife to answer by filing an affidavit disclaiming any intention to use her answers against the defendant in a criminal prosecution. U.S. v. Yerardi, 192 F.3d 14 (1st Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Yerardi, 192 F.3d 14 (1st Cir. 1999)."
1st Circuit affirms forfeiture despite failure to instruct jury that "substantial connection" must exist between residence and drug crime. (560) Defendant argued that the district court erroneously refused to instruct the jury that in order to sustain its criminal forfeiture claim, the government was re​quired to establish a "sub​stan​tial con​nection" between defen​dant's resi​dence and his drug of​fenses. The 1st Cir​cuit re​jected this, finding any error to be harmless. It noted that it has yet to determine the degree of interrelatedness required to sup​port a criminal forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §853(a)(2). How​ever, the "substantial con​nection" test is the burden required under the civil statute, 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7). Even assuming this was the burden, any error was harmless. The evidence linking defendant's con​duct to his residence was (a) an express mail package con​taining mari​juana, addressed to and received at the resi​dence, and (b) the controlled substance and related para​phernalia were dis​covered in the basement of the resi​dence. Either of these was sufficient to estab​lish a sub​stantial con​nection between the resi​dence and the drug crimes. U.S. v. Desmarais, 938 F.2d 347 (1st Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Desmarais, 938 F.2d 347 (1st Cir. 1991)."
2nd Circuit holds forfeiture of assets im​proper when govern​ment fails to establish connection to fraud scheme. (560) Defendant was convicted on 61 counts of mail fraud and one RICO count arising from his filing fraud​ulent New York state tax returns relating to gas stations which he wholly or partially owned. The jury for​feited almost 5 million dollars and 34 corpora​tions, some as RICO enterprises, others as benefits of the de​fendant's scheme. The 2nd Circuit affirmed a vast ma​jority of the mail fraud counts and the RICO counts, but par​tially reversed the forfeit​ure order. The court held that the non-RICO forfeitures of several corporations were overly broad because the government failed to prove that the defen​dant had any "direct receipts" from the fraud​ulent corporations. It remanded the case so the trial court could consider the extent to which the property was derived from the de​fendant's fraudulent scheme. U.S. v. Porcelli, 865 F.2d 1352 (2d Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Porcelli, 865 F.2d 1352 (2d Cir. 1989)."
Third Circuit holds that unpaid taxes, unlawfully disguised and retained by means of the filing of false tax returns through the U.S. mail, constitute “proceeds” of mail fraud under money laundering charge. (560)  The seven defendants included United Corporation, a family-owned business located in the Virgin Islands that operates a chain of three Plaza Extra Supermarket stores in St. Thomas and St. Croix. Because United conducts business through its Virgin Islands supermarkets, it is required to comply with statutorily-mandated monthly reporting of gross receipts and payment of tax on those receipts. The FBI received a suspicious activity report from the Bank of Nova Scotia in St. Thomas stating that, over a four day period in April 2001, $1,920,000 (in $50 and $100 bills) was deposited into United's bank account. The FBI began an investigation which revealed that defendants allegedly conspired to avoid reporting $60,000,000 of the supermarkets' gross receipts on United's Virgin Islands monthly tax returns and failed to pay the Virgin Islands government the 4% tax owed on those receipts.  A grand jury indicted the defendants on various counts relating to mail fraud, tax evasion, and international money laundering.  The indictment relied on mail fraud as the predicate offense, or “specified unlawful activity,” to support the money laundering charges. Defendants moved to dismiss those charges on the basis that any unpaid taxes disguised and retained as a result of filing false tax returns through the U.S. mail do not equate to “proceeds” of mail fraud. They contended that a tax savings resulting from filing false tax returns does not represent “proceeds.” The court agreed that term did not contemplate profits or revenue indirectly derived from the failure to remit taxes, and the mailing of the allegedly false gross tax returns did not result in proceeds, and thus dismissed those charges for failure to state an offense. On appeal, as a threshold matter, the Court held that simply because funds are originally procured through lawful activity does not mean that one cannot thereafter convert those same funds into the “proceeds” of an unlawful activity.  Thus, it rejected the suggestion that to qualify as “proceeds” under the federal money laundering statute, funds must have been directly produced by or through a specified unlawful activity, and held that funds retained as a result of the unlawful activity can be treated as the “proceeds” of such crime. Furthermore, the Supreme Court, in United States v. Santos, supra, recently clarified that the term “proceeds,” as that term is used in the federal money laundering statute, applies to criminal profits, not criminal receipts, derived from a specified unlawful activity.  Thus, the appellate court held that unpaid taxes unlawfully disguised and retained by means of the filing of false tax returns through the U.S. mail, constitute “proceeds” of mail fraud for purposes of supporting a charge of federal money laundering. The use of the mail to file fraudulent tax returns and fail to pay all taxes owed was not only incident to an essential part of the scheme, but also was clearly an essential part of the scheme because such mailings were the defendants' way of concealing the scheme itself by making the fraudulently reported gross receipts seem legitimate. Furthermore, the mailings of the fraudulent tax returns resulted in “proceeds” of mail fraud based on the nature of the entire ongoing fraudulent scheme because the unpaid taxes unlawfully retained by defendants represented the “proceeds” of a fraud that was also furthered by previous mailings.  Finally, in light of the Supreme Court's decision in Santos, the Court recognized that the “proceeds” from the mail fraud also amounted to “profits” of mail fraud.. Once these profits were included in the lump sums sent abroad by defendants, the offense of international money laundering was complete. U.S. v. Yusuf, 529 F.3d 172 (3rd Cir. 2008) (June 17, 2008).

4th Circuit sustains finding that third party claimant was “unbelievable.” (560) Hawkins was convicted of running a large drug operation and stipulated to the forfeiture of real estate and certain vehicles. Hawkins’ girlfriend, Holmes, filed a third-party claim to three cars alleging she bought the vehicles with her own money, or in one case, jointly with her aged mother. The district court found “unbelievable” her testimony that she accumulated $18,000 in cash to purchase a BMW from a series of low-wage jobs. It noted that Holmes’ story about buying a Cadillac in North Carolina was contradicted by evidence showing it was bought in Florida. The Fourth Circuit found that the district court’s conclusions were entitled to particular deference because they were based on credibility determinations the judicial officer in the courtroom was uniquely positioned to make. U.S. v. Holmes, 133 F.3d 918 (4th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Holmes, 133 F.3d 918 (4th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
5th Circuit affirms that there was probable cause as to crime and for​feitability of property. (560) Defendant moved before trial for the re​turn of ap​proximately $75,000 in cash seized from him after he was arrested for attempting to purchase cocaine in a "reverse sting" operation. The district court referred the matter to a magistrate to conduct a hearing to determine probable cause as to both the commission of a narcotics offense and the forfeitabil​ity of the money. The 5th Circuit affirmed the magis​trate's determina​tion that there was probable cause. Defen​dant had thousands of dollars in cash stored and packaged in exactly the same way, $20,000 of which he used to pay for the co​caine in the instant offense. He had no le​gitimate employment and ad​mitted that he sold cocaine for years. The $42,000 seized from a warehouse was just over the amount defendant needed to complete the next phase of the drug deal he had discussed with the under​cover agent. U.S. v. Ivy, 973 F.2d 1184 (5th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Ivy, 973 F.2d 1184 (5th Cir. 1992)."
6th Circuit finds lifestyle evidence sufficient to support forfeiture of drug dealer’s property. (560) Defendant was convicted of a drug trafficking conspiracy, and the jury returned a special forfeiture verdict finding certain of defendant’s real and personal property criminally forfeitable. The Sixth Circuit rejected defendant’s claim that the evidence was insufficient to prove that a car and various pieces of jewelry were derived from the proceeds of a drug trafficking conspiracy. The court noted that the government’s burden of proof under 21 U.S.C. §853(a)(1) is preponderance of the evidence, and concluded that the evidence was sufficient to show that all of the forfeited assets were purchased with drug proceeds or facilitated drug trafficking activities. “The evidence indicated that [defendant] lived an extravagant lifestyle without having a job or another identifiable source of income [other than drug trafficking].” U.S. v. Humphrey, 210 F.3d 373 (6th Cir. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Humphrey, __ F.3d __, 2000 WL 353712 (6th Cir. March 28, 2000) No. 98-3440."
6th Circuit creates presumption against admission of evidence that drug dog alerted to currency. (560) In this criminal drug case, the Sixth Circuit issued an evidentiary ruling that appears equally applicable to civil and criminal forfeitures. The appellate panel upheld defendants’ drug trafficking convictions, but two judges filed a special concurrence in which they found that evidence regarding positive alerts to currency by drug-sniffing canines is “inherently unreliable” based on studies showing that a high percentage of cash in the U.S. is contaminated with drug residue. Accordingly, the court held that “courts should generally presume against the admissibility of dog-sniff evidence unless the government offers other evidence showing a direct nexus between illegal narcotics, the currency in question, and the defendant.” Should the evidence “in any way cast doubt on the reliability of” the dog sniff evidence, “courts should find such evidence inadmissible.” U.S. v. Buchanan, 207 F.3d 344 (6th Cir. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Buchanan, 207 F.3d 344 (6th Cir. 2000)."
6th Circuit addresses forfeiture of property that facilitates marijuana growing on adja​cent property. (560) Defendant owned four contiguous tracts of property. He grew mar​ijuana on one of the tracts. The 6th Circuit permitted forfeiture of an adjacent tract be​cause the corn field that hid the marijuana ex​tended to the adjacent tract. However, it rejected the government's argument that the tract on which a residence was lo​cated should be forfeited because defen​dant "used the residence to guard the marijuana and to con​ceal the entire op​eration by making the farm appear to be a legitimate use of the land." The record contained no evidence that defen​dant had ac​tually used the residence to guard the marijuana, and the court found no error in the district court's con​clusion that the mere presence of a residence did not suffi​ciently "facilitate" the offense to permit forfei​ture. U.S. v. Smith, 966 F.2d 1045 (6th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Smith, 966 F.2d 1045 (6th Cir. 1992)."
7th Circuit upholds forfeiture amount derived from estimate of illegal drug sales. (560) Defendants were convicted of a long-running conspiracy to sell heroin. They waived a jury trial on the accompanying forfeiture counts and the district court entered a forfeiture verdict as part of the sentencing process. The trial court used the testimony of undercover agents, defendants’ own recorded telephone conversa​tions, and sales ledgers maintained by the conspirators to estimate the quantity of heroin sold. The court multiplied the estimated total drug quantity by its sales price, and then deducted the cost of purchasing the drug and the value of defendants’ property already seized to arrive at a total forfeiture verdict of $3.3 million. The Seventh Circuit upheld the trial court’s calculation. Noting that some estimation is inevitable and proper, the circuit court found the methods employed here supportable by the facts and, if anything, rather favorable to defendants. U.S. v. Jarrett, 133 F.3d 519 (7th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Jarrett, 133 F.3d 519 (7th Cir. 1998)."
7th Circuit finds preponderance of evidence supported forfeiture of cash. (560) Defendant was arrested delivering six kilograms of cocaine to the trunk of a waiting vehicle. Later, agents found $120,505 in cash in a brown paper bag under defendant’s bed. During the course of the investigation, defendant was recorded bragging that he made millions of dollars in his drug trafficking activities. Defendant was charged with narcotics trafficking and the indictment sought forfeiture of the cash pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §853. Defendant pled guilty to one count of the indictment, and the remaining counts, including the forfeiture count, were dismissed. The sentencing judge nonetheless ordered forfeiture of the cash. The Seventh Circuit found that forfeiture of the cash was an element of defendant’s sentence, which could be ordered upon a showing by a preponderance of the evidence that the money was proceeds of drug crime. See Libretti v. U.S., 516 U.S. 29 (1995). Here there was ample evidence of defendant’s extensive narcotics activities, and the district court did not err in rejecting defendant’s unsubstantiated claim that the money under the bed came from “legitimate family businesses.” The order of forfeiture was upheld. U.S. v. Patel, 131 F.3d 1195 (7th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. Patel, 131 F.3d 1195 (7th Cir. 1997)."
7th Circuit upholds forfeiture of $30,000 interest in house based on $50,000 drug transaction. (560) Defendant was convicted of charges stemming from a large cocaine conspiracy. The Seventh Circuit rejected his claim that the forfeiture of his home was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The connection between the offense and the property was not incidental and fortuitous. The government claimed the house primarily on the basis of one phone call made to the house in which defendant set up a large cocaine trans​action. Defendant used the privacy of his home to conduct drug-related business over the phone. Moreover, defendant's equity in the house was only about $30,000, while the drug deal involved $50,000 worth of cocaine. U.S. v. Plescia, 48 F.3d 1452 (7th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Plescia, 48 F.3d 1452 (7th Cir. 1995)."
7th Circuit affirms forfeiture despite reversal of one of de​fendant's drug convictions. (560) Defendant was con​victed by a jury of a drug conspiracy and possession with intent to dis​tribute cocaine, and cash found in his resi​dence was or​dered forfeited. On appeal, the conspir​acy conviction was reversed, but the 7th Circuit affirmed the forfeiture order. Although the cash could not have been the proceeds of the cocaine offense for which he was convicted, the jury was en​titled to believe that the cash was intended to facilitate the commission of the crime. The jury could conclude that de​fendant was in the drug business, and that the cash was an asset of that business. U.S. v. La​mon, 930 F.2d 1183 (7th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. La​mon, 930 F.2d 1183 (7th Cir. 1991)."
7th Circuit upholds criminal forfeiture of money and car in CCE despite erroneous instruction on government’s burden of proof. (560) Al​though the government was not required to prove be​yond a reasonable doubt that defendant's assets were subject to forfeiture, the jury was instructed using the reasonable doubt standard and the 7th Circuit used that standard to analyze the evidence. Even with that height​ened burden however, the court concluded that the jury could have rea​sonably found that the money seized from de​fendant's apartment was intended to be used to pay for cocaine. As for the Mercedes, the evi​dence showed that the defendant used the Mercedes to meet with co​caine dealing associ​ates and to drive to his office on a daily basis. The office had no legitimate use and con​tained 200 grams of cocaine and assorted other items in​cluding empty plastic bags containing cocaine residue. U.S. v. Pace, 898 F.2d 1218 (7th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Pace, 898 F.2d 1218 (7th Cir. 1990)."
8th Circuit agrees that cash found in trunk of car at defendant's car dealership was drug proceeds. (560) Defendant sold crack from his auto sales business. The Eighth Circuit agreed that the government proved by a preponderance of the evidence that $30,577 seized from the trunk of a car at the dealership constituted or was derived from defendant's drug trafficking. Defendant had been involved in drug trafficking in the past, the money was stores in a highly unusual location despite the fact that defendant had bank accounts for his business, and marked money from undercover drug deals was intermingled in the $30,577. U.S. v. Wojcik, 60 F.3d 431 (8th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Wojcik, 60 F.3d 431 (8th Cir. 1995)."
8th Circuit holds defendants waived objection to all-or-nothing forfeiture by failing to object to jury instructions. (560) Defendants were convicted of bank fraud and RICO charges stemming from the collapse of the saving and loan association of which they were officers. Defendants argued that the district court should not have forfeited 100 percent of the salaries and bonuses that the jury found were proceeds of RICO activity. They contended on appeal that portions of the salaries and bonuses were earned through legal activity. The 8th Circuit found that defendants had waived this complaint by failing to object below to the jury instruction and verdict form. Moreover, the evidence supported complete forfeiture of the salaries and bonuses. U.S. v. Olson, 22 F.3d 783 (8th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Olson, 22 F.3d 783 (8th Cir. 1994)."
8th Circuit affirms conclusion that busi​ness facili​tated drug crimes. (560) Defen​dant was convicted of assorted drug crimes, and the jury also concluded that his business was forfeitable. The 8th Circuit found the evidence sufficient to support the jury's ver​dict. Marijuana was stored and distributed at the business. One of defendant's main mar​ijuana dis​tributors was an employee of de​fendant's business. The distribu​tor called the business number once to discuss a drug transaction. The business had many legiti​mate customers, providing a cover for the il​legal activity. U.S. v. Wiley, 997 F.2d 378 (8th Cir. 1993). xe "U.S. v. Wiley, 997 F.2d 378 (8th Cir. 1993). "
9th Circuit holds that although government could seek forfeiture for alleged fraud, the assets of the charity run by the defendant were not (proceeds( of his fraud. (510, 560) Defendant, president and chairman of the board of a large nonprofit corporation, Unity House, Inc., was indicted for mail and wire fraud, among other crimes. At the time, Unity House had listed assets of approximately $42,000,000, and had board members, officers, and a corporate counsel and provided various legitimate services. The government's theory was that the defendant, through fraud, gained control over the entire corporation in violation of the rights of its members, and engaged in self-dealing transactions, such as loans by Unity House to corporations in which he had a stake. The government asserted that the defendant schemed to gain control of the entire corporation and its assets, those assets are the "proceeds" of his alleged mail and wire fraud and are thus subject to forfeiture under 28 U.S.C. (2461(c) and 18 U.S.C. (981(a)(1)(C). In entering a preliminary injunction freezing the assets of Unity House and appointing a receiver to take control of its operations, the district court noted that there was an avenue for any innocent parties who claim a right to the property subject to forfeiture to assert those claims. The defendant appealed the interlocutory injunction. On appeal, the court first found that a provision of the Civil Asset Forfeiture Reform Act of 2000 ("CAFRA"), 28 U.S.C. (( 2461(c), increased the government's authority to seek criminal forfeiture whenever 1) civil forfeiture of the property in issue is authorized, and 2) there is "no specific statutory provision" allowing criminal forfeiture for the charged offense, and both requirements were satisfied in that case. However, the court agreed with the defendant that the government failed to show probable cause to believe that the assets of Unity House were "proceeds" of the defendant(s alleged mail or wire fraud, at most showing the defendant schemed to gain control of the assets of Unity House for his personal use. The government could not show that assets as they were acquired and held by Unity House were derived from mail or wire fraud charged in the indictment or that the defendant deposited any ill-gotten gains in Unity House. All of the seized assets, including bank accounts and real property, were owned by Unity House, which continued to be a nonprofit corporation operating under a state charter, and Unity House continued to engage in substantial operations not affected by any mail or wire fraud alleged to have been committed by the defendant. Although the defendant's control of Unity House may have enabled him to misappropriate some of its assets, the government was not pursuing any such assets in his hands, where they could qualify as "proceeds" that he "obtained." The court therefore vacated the preliminary injunction. U.S. v. Rutledge, 437 F.3d 917 (9th Cir. 2006) (Feb 14, 2006).

9th Circuit vacates forfeiture where evidence of underlying crime insufficient. (560) Defen​dant was convicted of conspiracy to hide untaxed income and structuring currency trans​actions, as well as a forfeiture count based on the structuring charges. The Ninth Circuit reversed the structuring convictions for insufficient evidence, a result that mandated reversal of the forfeiture verdict. U.S. v. Skelton, 176 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Skelton, 176 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit finds power of attorney admissible to impeach denial of car ownership. (540) In a criminal case which may nonetheless stand as a cautionary tale to forfeiture counsel, a defendant charged with smuggling cocaine in a hidden compartment of the car he was driving took the stand to deny ownership of the vehicle and knowledge of its contents. The government cross-examined defendant with a power of attorney he had signed and mailed to the Customs service. The document, sent by defendant in response to a form notice of forfeiture, stated defendant owned the vehicle at the time of his arrest and sought to allow an Arizona woman to claim the car. The Ninth Circuit found no violation of defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights in admitting the document for impeachment purposes. The court rejected the suggestion that Customs was obliged to send a copy of the notice to defendant’s criminal lawyer. Moreover, even if there had been a Sixth Amendment violation, information obtained as a result of such a violation “may rightly be used for impeachment purposes.” U.S. v. Padilla-Flores, 141 F.3d 1182 (9th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Padilla-Flores, 141 F.3d 1182 (9th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit holds only $4300 directly traceable as drug buy money forfeitable from $43,000 cash hoard. (560) The Ninth Circuit vacated the bulk of a criminal forfeiture against a convicted drug trafficker. Defendant was convicted by a jury of one count of conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine, three counts of distribution of methamphetamine (one of which was vacated on appeal), one count of possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and criminal forfeiture of $43,070 in cash found in a locker rented by defendant under a false name. Among the bills seized were $4300 in marked buy money from two of the methamphetamine transactions for which defendant was convicted. The locker also contained marijuana packaged for sale. A search of defendant’s house produced a written record of money owed for drug sales. The defendant testified and admitted that at least $10,000 of the money in the locker came from marijuana sales, but claimed the balance came from legitimate employment and sale of a mobile home for a relative. He was unable to produce documents supporting either the receipt of income or the sale of a mobile home. The court of appeals nonetheless found the government had failed to show an adequate nexus between any of the seized cash except the marked buy money and any offense of conviction, including the conspir​acy. Implicit in the court’s ruling was a finding that defendant was not even jointly and severally responsible for forfeiting drug proceeds received by his co-conspirator. Judge Beezer filed a spirited dissent. U.S. v. Garcia-Guizar, 160 F.3d 511 (9th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Garcia-Guizar, 160 F.3d 511 (9th Cir. 1998)."
9th Circuit finds evidence sufficient to sustain forfeiture of cash. (560) Border Patrol agents seized $3,743.10 in cash from defendant at the time of his arrest on drug charges. At his bench trial, the court found the money criminally forfeitable as funds used to facilitate illegal activity pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §853(a)(2). The Ninth Circuit held the following evidence sufficient to prove the government’s forfeiture claim by a preponderance: (1) seizure of the funds at the time of defendant’s arrest in a vehicle containing evidence of drug trafficking; (2) testimony from two co-defendants that they were promised $200 each to backpack drugs into the U.S. from Mexico; and (3) testimony from an expert witness that a driver earns $500-$1,000 per load of drugs and a backpacker earns $200-$500 per load. U.S. v. Barrett, 127 F.3d 1107 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Barrett, 127 F.3d 1107 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)." 

Eleventh Circuit holds that wife of fraud offender was not bonafide purchaser for value of property under criminal forfeiture statute and forfeiture of vacant lot did not violate her due process rights although not listed in government’s motion for summary judgment. (560, 580) The defendant committed acts of fraud and money laundering as part of a grand scheme involving his telecommunications company, Accutel Communications. After finding him guilty as charged, the jury issued a special verdict finding that $7.5 million in U.S. currency and his residence in Boca Raton, Florida were traceable to defendant’s crimes. The district court then entered a series of amended preliminary orders of forfeiture for substitute property to be forfeited in partial satisfaction of the money judgment. Defendant’s wife was not implicated in his criminal activity, but held the title of president of Accutel. Her only income was an "owner's draw" that she received from Accutel. All forfeited properties were purchased in her name or in the name of a company of which she was president. She filed two separate sworn petitions asserting interests in all but one of the properties named in the preliminary orders of forfeiture, stating that she held interests in all of the properties as a bonafide purchaser for value. The district court granted the government's motion for summary judgment. On appeal, the court held that 21 U.S.C. §853(n)(6)(B) exists only to protect subsequent purchasers of "the defendant's interest" in an asset; however, the wife did not contend that she purchased an interest in any of the properties from her husband, but admitted that each of the properties was purchased from a third party seller. Thus, she was not a bonafide purchaser under that statute. Moreover, although she contended that forfeiture of a vacant lot violated her rights to due process because the lot was not mentioned in any of the petitions or in the pleadings relating to summary judgment, the court held that the record demonstrated that she had not only notice but actual knowledge that the vacant lot might be forfeited, since her first petition identified the vacant lot and set forth the facts surrounding its purchase, in the same way as the petition discussed the properties listed in the district court's preliminary order of forfeiture. U.S. v. Soreide, 2006 WL 2434222 (11th Cir. 2006) (August 24, 2006).

11th Circuit affirms that cashier's check used to pur​chase stock was forfeitable. (560) The 11th Circuit found there was sufficient evi​dence for the jury to con​clude that a cashier's check for $73,200 that defen​dant used to pur​chase stock was forfeitable. There was tes​timony that a stock broker had laundered money for de​fendant through the stock market, and that defendant's tax returns did not reflect investment profits. The check was dated four days after defendant was named in the initial in​dictment on drug charges and before he was ar​rested. U.S. v. Elgersma, 929 F.2d 1538 (11th Cir. 1991), rev’d on other grounds, 971 F.2d 690 (11th Cir. 1992) (en banc).xe "U.S. v. Elgersma, 929 F.2d 1538 (11th Cir. 1991), rev’d on other grounds, 971 F.2d 690 (11th Cir. 1992) (en banc)."
11th Circuit upholds finding that defendant owned Bronco, but reverses valuation of sub​stitute property. (560) The 11th Circuit con​cluded that there was ample evidence before the jury to permit it to conclude that defendant was the owner of the Bronco. Defendant's fa​ther, who purchased it in the name of his com​pany, stated that the Bronco would belong to defendant, and defendant took out title papers in his own name. Prior to trial, however, the car was purchased by an innocent third party, so the district court ordered substitute prop​erty to be forfeited. It valued the Bronco at $18,000. The 11th Circuit reversed, ruling that there was no evi​dence that the defendant had made any payments on the Bronco beyond the initial $10,000 deposit. U.S. v. Roberson, 897 F.2d 1092 (11th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Roberson, 897 F.2d 1092 (11th Cir. 1990)."
11th Circuit holds horses bred on ranch where drug transaction occurred were prop​erly for​feited as "front" for activities. (560) Drug de​fendant appealed from an order forfeiting 27 quarter horses which were used to fa​cilitate drug trans​actions. The 11th Circuit affirmed, holding that it was not necessary for the horses to be physically used to carry out the drug trans​actions. Rather, it was sufficient that the defen​dant's horse breeding business, including the horses he had on hand, were used as a cover for his drug trafficking activities. The evi​dence at trial proved he had conducted drug transac​tions from the ranch and he had used words as​sociated with horse breeding as code words for drug trafficking transac​tions. U.S. v. Rivera, 879 F.2d 1247 (11th Cir. 1989).

Florida district court denies government’s motion to dismiss claim as untimely filed, and grants ancillary petition because government could not identify defendant's interest in subject property.  (560, 590) An indictment charged that four defendants, Marion and his son conspired to possess with intent to distribute five kilograms or more of a mixture or substance containing cocaine, and contained a provision seeking forfeitures two properties on Zana Drive in Fort Myers, Florida. All defendants pled guilty. Marion, Jr. was the only defendant who the government asserted had an interest in the Zana Drive Properties. The court entered a Preliminary Order of Forfeiture, Marion Jr.'s maternal grandmother filed a petition contesting forfeiture, and the government moved to dismiss her petition as untimely. The Court, however, found that the government waived its ability to seek dismissal for untimeliness, and that its motion is itself untimely. After the petition was filed, the government sought and obtained a continuance of the ancillary hearing because the parties need more time for discovery. No mention was made of the alleged untimeliness of the claim, and therefore the issue was waived. Additionally, Fed. R.Crim. P. 32.2(c)(1)(A) and (B) suggest that a motion to dismiss is to be filed before the discovery process and the ancillary hearing. The Court also found that the claim was filed within 30 days of the date the government obtained any interest of defendant in the Zana Drive Properties, and that no prejudice resulted to the government from the timing of the filing of the petition. The petitioner then asserted that her right, title and interest was superior to Marion, Jr.'s, she was a bona fide purchaser for value, and an innocent owner of the property. The government responded that petitioner was the nominee of Marion, Jr., and had no standing. The court first held 21 U.S.C. §853 does not contain an innocent owner provision, and therefore petitioner's innocence, standing alone, would not defeat the government's interest in the criminally forfeited property. It also held that although §853(n) allows a third party to establish her interest in the forfeited property by proving she was a bona fide purchaser for fair market value, it only protects subsequent purchasers of the defendant's interest in the property. Since petitioner did not claim she purchased her interest in the Zana Drive Properties from Marion, Jr., and since the uncontroverted evidence showed she did not do so, the Court rejected petitioner's bona fide purchaser theory. As to her claim of a superior interest, while the parties disputed petitioner's status as an owner or a nominee, the evidence was undisputed that at all relevant times she had been in possession of the Zana Drive Properties, and thus she had constitutional standing to assert a claim. However, the criminal proceedings did not resolve what interest Marion, Jr. had in the Zana Drive Properties, but rather simply forfeited that interest, whatever it was. The dilemma presented was that the government did not know the extent of Marion, Jr.'s interest and therefore did not know the extent of its own interest in these properties, and thus at best has only an unspecified interest. Because an in personam forfeiture seeks to penalize defendant for his illegal activities, it reaches only defendant's interest in the subject property. Without knowing the extent of defendant's interest in the property, the government cannot forfeit the property. Therefore, the government's interest cannot be superior to petitioner's. The unrebutted legal title did not end the inquiry, however, because legal title by a mere nominee would not be superior to defendant's interest. Nevertheless, the government failed to produce evidence to undermine petitioner's evidence that she was the owner of the properties. U.S. v. Marion, 2008 WL 151863 (M.D. Fla. 2008)(January 16, 2008).

Illinois District Court denies motion to dismiss indictment, even though contraband smuggled into United States that was basis for indictment was destroyed by government. (560) Defendant failed to declare 1150 Cuban cigars upon his re-entry into the United States from Canada. The Customs Service seized and administratively forfeited the cigars after he failed to file a claim or otherwise challenge the forfeiture. The cigars were destroyed as contraband. Five years later, he was indicted under the Trading with the Enemy Act, and the Cuban cigars were the basis of Counts 2 and 3 of the indictment. The defendant moved to dismiss those counts, arguing that the government’s destruction of the cigars made it impossible for him to present the best evidence that they were not of Cuban origin. The N.D. Ill. District court found no showing of bad faith or malicious intent by the prosecution or law enforcement authorities in the mistaken destruction of the cigars following their forfeiture. Rather, the destruction was based upon the incorrect belief that the defendant’s criminal case had been completed.  After admonishing the government to be more careful in preserving evidence for trial, the N.D. Ill. district court denied the motion to dismiss. U.S. v. Connors, 2002 WL 24520 (N.D. Ill. 2002).

Illinois District Court rules all witnesses, whose testimony is admitted either live or written during forfeiture hearing, must be available for cross-examination. (560) Defendant was found guilty of various drug, tax, and money laundering offenses. However, the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on the forfeiture count. At the retrial, the district court observed that a criminal forfeiture hearing is a hybrid procedure. On one hand, the statute requires that a jury determine the extent of the forfeiture. On the other hand, a forfeiture hearing is part of the criminal defendant’s sentencing, and as a sentencing, a criminal forfeiture hearing is not bound by the formal rules of evidence. To ensure the accuracy of the evidence presented during the forfeiture hearing, the court ruled that all witnesses, whose testimony is admitted either live or written during the forfeiture hearing, be made available for cross-examination by the defendant. United States v. Messino, 2001 WL 123799 (N.D. Ill. 2001).

New York district court denies ancillary proceeding third-party petitions claiming forfeited diamonds because jewelry dealers could not adequately identify the diamonds to be the ones that they purportedly consigned with the defendant. (560) Defendant was convicted for using a jewelry business to launder drug money, by arranging to exchange a large number of diamonds for approximately $500,000 in cash believed to be drug money. Federal agents had arrested him and seized 739 loose diamond stones that were used in the money laundering transaction. Following his conviction, the diamonds were forfeited pursuant to a preliminary order of forfeiture. The Court then held an ancillary hearing at which two other diamond dealers contended that the diamonds belonged to them, presenting an expert witness who testified about customs and practices in the diamond industry. One of the dealers, Jeki, alleged that he sent 45 diamonds worth $118,078 out on "consignment" to the defendant’s business. The court, however, found Jeki's testimony not credible, finding that at least one payment by defendant’s business Roman Jewelers to Jeki appeared to be a sale of diamonds and not a consignment, and considering his claim that he can identify his diamonds simply by looking at them. The other dealer, Ygudaev, testified that he shipped diamonds on consignment to defendant’s business via a shipping company, whose documents indicated that the shipment contained 33 lots of diamonds totaling 495.29 carats, with a total declared value of $315,000. Ygudaev did not offer any documentary evidence in support of his claim that the shipment was made on consignment, and testified that he had imposed no time limit for the return of the diamonds, although he had never left diamonds worth that much money on consignment for more than one year before. He also claimed that, aside from the diamonds claimed by Jeki, the remainder of the diamonds were his, but did not explain how he was able to identify those diamonds.  The court held that in the absence of a written inventory, or an explanation as to why it could not be produced, it would be "impossible" for a diamond merchant to pick out diamonds without a written record of the diamonds' carat weight, cut, clarity or color. Moreover, the court found that even if the dealers could identify their specific diamonds, a consignment had not been effectuated, based on discrepancies between the petitioners' testimony at the hearing and their prior depositions, coupled with the documentary evidence. Thus, their petitions were denied. U.S. v. Nektalov, 2006 WL 2051124 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (July 20, 2006).

New York district court orders criminal forfeiture because government proved nexus between ill-gotten proceeds and real property and RICO, gambling and bank fraud violations, and forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendants' offense. (560, 700, 705) The defendants were charged with bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1344, and the indictment contained three forfeiture allegations relating to the charges, seeking forfeiture of property related to the commission of RICO and gambling violations, and specifically identifying the defendants' interests in more than $9 million and several real properties. The government further announced its intention to seek substitute assets in the event that any of the specifically identified assets could not be forfeited. Shortly before the case was given to the jury, defendants agreed to submit to the Court the determination of whether the requisite nexus existed between the properties sought for forfeiture and the charged criminal conduct. The court held that because forfeiture is imposed on a defendant in personam, the Government need not trace the proceeds to specific assets, and because it is intended to be a potent means of punishment, the Government need not provide a precise calculation of the proceeds. Because the evidence presented at trial easily established that defendants accrued that much in the course of their racketeering activities, the government's claim to total proceeds of $5,755,000 was allowed. Also, the defendants used the real properties to conduct loansharking activities and store instrumentalities of their gambling and other criminal activities. Thus, the properties were subject to forfeiture under the RICO statute. Moreover, evidence presented at trial established that the entirety of the properties was used by the defendants to further the affairs of the enterprise, and thus a straight proportionality analysis suggested that the entire properties should be forfeited. Finally, taking all of the Eighth Amendment factors together, the forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendants' offense. In addition, with respect to the $5,755,000 in proceeds, the court commented in dicta that it is not even clear that requiring the forfeiture of ill-gotten gains could ever be considered an excessive fine, noting that several courts of appeal have concluded since that forfeiture of proceeds, as opposed to legally-acquired property later involved in a criminal offense, does not implicate Eighth Amendment concerns of disproportionality. The court ultimately issued preliminary orders of forfeiture. U.S. v. Rudaj, 2006 WL 1876664 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (July 5, 2006).

